IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

LAS THERE STANK

Supreme Court Case No. 83,988

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

The Florida Bar File No. 93-70,232 (11G)

vs.

GARY ALLYN BARCUS,

Respondent.

_____/

INITIAL BRIEF AND ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, GARY BARCUS

JEPEWAY AND JEPEWAY, P.A. 407 Biscayne Building 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Tele.: (305)377-2356 Fla. Bar No. 113699

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Bar's statement of the case is correct.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Referee found that the Complainant, Peter Mas: "...in testifying...was evasive as to money matters, he employed very selective memory in many aspects. In response to certain questions it became obvious he had no credibility whatsoever" (RR 1). Therefore, there will be little reference to his testimony.

The Respondent, Gary Barcus, is and at all times material, was a member of the Florida Bar and subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of this Court (RR 2).

In May 1989, Peter and Paula Mas retained Mr. Barcus to defend them in a lawsuit

brought against them by Mr. Mas's business partner, Michael Molina, and his wife, Mirna Molina, styled *Molina v. Mas, et al.* (T.35-I). In July, 1989, Peter Mas retained the Respondent to defend him in another lawsuit, *Dana Commercial Credit Corporation v. Autobohn Imported Auto Parts, Inc., Peter Mas, and Michael Molina* (RR 2). Mr. Barcus was also retained by Mr. Mas to file a counter-claim against Dana Commercial Credit Credit Corporation V.

¥

Mr. Mas and Mr. Molina were partners in an automotive parts business, Autobohn Imported Auto Parts, which failed. The Molinas and the Mases had executed mortgages on their homes for a business loan from Florida International Bank. The loans went into default. The Molinas paid off the full amount of the mortgage and Florida International Bank assigned the mortgage to them. There were other claims in the lawsuit about monies owed from the business operations. The Molinas sued the Mases to foreclose on the mortgage. The Mases owed approximately \$22,500.00 (T.54-56-III).

Jimmy List was also involved in the lawsuits. His business was Southern Imports Auto Parts. Mr. Mas sold the remaining assets of Autobohn to Mr. List for about \$75,000.00. Mr. List paid for them on a periodic basis as he sold them (T.56-57-III). The Molinas sued Mr. List for the proceeds from the sale of the auto parts to him from Mr. Mas (T.57-III). Dana Commercial sued Mr. Mas, Mr. List, and Autobohn. Dana had leased a computer to Autobohn and when the business broke up neither Autobohn nor Mr. Mas or Mr. List paid Dana. That suit was consolidated with the Molina suit (T.57-58-III).

Mr. Barcus test:fied. He was employed with the law firm of Haley, Sinagra, and Perez in early 1986 (T.50-III). He did massive amounts of collections there (T.50-III). In one year, he and another associate filed over six thousand law suits (T.50-III).

3

.

He eventually left and opened his own office (T.51-III). Denrich Leasing was a client. Denrich was the largest small ticket leasing company in the United States (T.51-III). He represented Denrich from 1988 through 1993 (T.52-III). He became very familiar with commercial leases and commercial equipment leases (T.52-III).

He met the Mases in the Spring of 1989 (T.52-III). He undertook their representation at that time (T.52-III).

Mr. Barcus' first meeting with Mr. Mas was in February or March of 1989 (T.68-69-III). It took seven hours (T.69-III). They reviewed all of the records and documents from the business (T.69-III). He did not charge Mr. Mas for those seven hours because, from the very outset, the Mases made it clear that they were in a desperate financial situation because of the business breakup with Mr. Molina (T.69-III). Mr. Mas told Mr. Barcus that he was not working. Mrs. Mas told him that she had a part time job for about ten hours a week (T.69-III).

Mr. Barcus and the Mases agreed upon a fee (T.69-70-III). He would defend the lawsuit brought by the Molinas at a rate of \$125.00 an hour (T.70-III).

Then Dana Commercial sued Mr. Mas individually and Autobohn Imported Auto Parts (T.70-III). He represented Mr. Mas in the Dana case at the same hourly rate (T.70-71). He filed a counter-claim against Dana for the Mases asserting usury (T.71-III). The counterclaim was done on a contingency basis (T.71-III).

Mr. Mas was the most difficult client he has had (T.52-III). He was argumentative. He was bullheaded. He was hateful. He was mean. He did not take advice. One had to tell him things over and over and over. He was demanding of time. He thought that he could call Mr. Barcus any time of the day, night, weekends, holidays, any time, to discuss whatever he wanted to discuss, involving his legal matter or anything else in his personal life (T.53-III). He was extremely hateful. He told Mr. Barcus on more than one occasion that he wanted to kill Mr. Molina (T.53-III). He did not follow instructions. He would not listen to advice. Mr. Barcus' office was in his home (T.8-III). Mr. Mas wanted to come to Mr. Barcus' home. He would arrive unannounced (T.53-III).

Mr. Mas called Mr Barcus several times a day in certain streaks. Mr. Barcus had to put the answering machine on and monitor calls because he would call six times and want to talk about the same thing that they had discussed (T.53-III). It was not uncommon for him to call Mr. Barcus a minimum of three times a week and many times much more than that (T.54-III).

During Mr. Barcus' representation of the Mases, settlement proposals were made (T.58-III). The first was approximately in April, 1990 (T.58-III). Mr. and Mrs. Molina, Mr. and Mrs. Mas, their daughter, their attorneys and Mr. Barcus were present (T.59-III). The proposal was that Mr. and Mrs. Mas would agree to split the mortgage, it was about \$45,000.00, and Mr. and Mrs. Mas would be responsible for \$22,500.00 (T.59-III). It would come from Mr. List, from his payments on the auto parts that he had purchased from Mr. Mas (T.59-III). The money would be paid to the Molinas because they had paid off the note to Florida International Bank (T.59-III). The lawsuit would be dismissed and jurisdiction would be reserved in the event that Mr. List did not make the payments to the Molinas (T.60-III). If Mr. List had not made the payments the case would have been reopened (T.135-IV).

On re-direct, Mr. Barcus testified that if Mr. List had defaulted on his payments to the Molinas, the Mases would not have been in any worse position than they were (T.175-IV). In fact, they would have been in a better position. The stipulation would have included an admission by Mr. List that he was liable so that the Mases could obtain judgment by affidavit upon default (T.175-176-IV). The Mases would have been in fantastic shape (T.176-IV).

The Molinas agreed to it, Mr. List agreed to it, Mrs. Mas agreed to it but Mr. Mas rejected it (T.60-III).

Mr. Barcus advised Mr. Mas to accept the settlement (T.61-III). Mr. Mas said that Mr. Molina had not suffered enough. He hated Mr. Molina. He wanted to litigate. He wanted to get Mr. Molina. He wanted to rub his nose in it. He wanted to make him pay (T.61-62-III). He did not give Mr. Barcus one financially favorable reason for his refusal to settle (T.62-III).

There was another attempt at settlement on the same terms. Mr. Mas rejected it (T.62-III).

There were at least two mediations in the case (T.62-63-III).

The first mediation was in the summer of 1990. Mr. List, his attorney, the Molinas, their attorney, Mr. Mas and Mr. Barcus were there (T.63-III). Essentially the same proposal was made (T.63-III). Additionally, Dana was to be paid \$7,500.00 by Jimmy List and Southern Auto Imports, Mr. List's firm (T.64-III). The Mases would not have paid anything out of pocket, except their half of the mediation cost (T.64-III). Everyone accepted this proposal but Mr. Mas (T.64-65).

The proposal was so favorable to the Mases that the mediator asked to speak to Mr.

5

Mas alone. He did (T.65-III). The mediator told Mr. Barcus that it was obvious that Mr. Mas did not want to settle. He had an ax to grind and he wanted to keep grinding it (T.66-III).

There was a second mediation in the spring of 1991 (T.66-III). Mr. List's attorney, the Molinas and their attorney, Dana's attorney, Mr. Mas and Mr. Barcus were present (T.67-III). The proposal essentially was the same. All were willing to sign except Mr. Mas (T.67-68-III).

Mr. Barcus repeatedly advised Mr. Mas to accept the proposal (T.66-III). Mr. Mas refused because he hated Mr. Molina (T.66-III).

The Mases' new counsel, Gary Gostel, obtained the same settlement after he took over their representation (T.50-II). The Mases paid Mr. Gostel a fee of \$30,000.00 (T.49-II).

The Molina case was ready for trial but then it was consolidated with the Dana case (T.71-III).

In the Dana case, Mr. Barcus requested Dana's documents, propounded interrogatories, set their legal representative for deposition, subpoenaed the records of the Florida Department of Revenue to obtain an indication of what amount of the usurious conduct had occurred in Florida, and traveled to Michigan several times where he reviewed thousands of files (T.74-III).

Prior to July 18, 1990, Dana had taken Mr. Mas's deposition (T.75-III). He had instructed Mr. Mas not to answer some questions. The court ruled that he had to answer them (T.75). Dana's attorney noticed Mr. Mas's deposition for July 18, 1990 (T.75-III). Mr. Barcus made a mistake and noted the deposition for July 28, 1990 (T.76-III).

When Mr. Barcus learned that he had noted the wrong date for the deposition, he called Dana's attorney and apologized (T.76-77-III). He told him that he and Mr. Mas would come over for the deposition at his convenience (T.77-III). Dana's attorney refused. He said that he would re-notice it when he felt like it (T.77-III).

Mr. Mas went to Mr. Barcus' house. He wanted to go down to Dana's attorney's office for the deposition (T.77-III). They did (T.77-III). Dana's attorney said that he was not going to take the deposition then and that he would take it when he felt like it (T.78-III). He said that he was going to bring the matter before the judge (T.78-III).

Mr. Barcus called Dana's attorney and said that they were coming over (T.142-IV). He spoke directly to Dana's attorney (T.142-143-IV). Dana's attorney was expecting them (T.143-IV). They went there to show their good faith, their willingness to present Mr. Mas for deposition, and to apologize personally to Dana's attorney for Mr. Barcus' mistake in noting the date of the deposition (T.143-IV). He wanted Dana's attorney to take Mr. Mas's deposition at that time or to agree to a mutually convenient time to take it (T.143-IV). He informed the Molinas' attorneys that he was taking Mr. Mas to Dana's attorney's office for deposition (T.145-III).

Mr. Barcus repeatedly offered to reschedule the deposition (T.78-III). Dana's attorney refused (T.78-III). Dana's attorney re-noticed the deposition (T.78-III) for August 1, 1990 at 1:00 P.M. (T.78-79-III). Mr. Barcus received the notice one hour after the deposition was scheduled (T.79-III). He called Dana's attorney and offered to produce Mr. Mas yet again at an agreed time (T.79-III). Dana's attorney refused and said that he was going to take it before the judge (T.80-III).

Dana's attorney took Mr. Mas's deposition in September, 1990 (T.80-III).

Mr. Barcus was so furious at the attempt by Dana's attorney to discredit him and Mr. Mas that he set a deposition himself, called the other side and told them that Mr. Mas was there and would be available (T.81-III). They could take his deposition. He attempted to show good faith that they were not trying to deceive or obstruct discovery (T.81-III). No one appeared (T.81-III). They were informed by phone (T.81-III). Mr. Barcus spoke to them and their staff and delivered the notices to them (T.81-III).

The deposition he took of Mr. Mas was limited to the circumstances involving the method by which the documents from Michigan, the usury documents, were obtained. Dana's attorney wanted them precluded (T.81-82-III).

While Mr. Barcus represented the Mases, Mr. Mas was charged with a felony (T.81-III). Mr. Barcus advised him to obtain a competent, experienced criminal defense attorney to represent him (T.82-III). He suggested two (T.82-83-III). Mr. Mas was represented by the Public Defender (T.83-III). Mr. Mas entered a plea of *nolo contendre* (T.83-III). He agreed to make restitution of \$7,500.00, at \$280.00 a month to Dana (T.83-III).

Mr. Mas was in arrears in his payments to Dana (T.83-III). Mr. Mas asked Mr. Barcus to inform the State Attorney and his probation officer that he was representing Mr. Mas for free and that he did not have any money (T.84-III). Mr. Barcus went to court and explained to the prosecutor and to the probation officer that Mr. Mas was broke (T.84-III). At that juncture, Mr. Barcus was convinced that Mr. Mas was broke (T.85-III). It took approximately six hours (T.85-III).

Mr. Mas's probation was not revoked (T.85-III). He did not charge Mr. Mas anything

for his time (T.85-86-III). Mr. Mas did not thank him (T.86-III).

The Mases paid Mr. Barcus a total of approximately \$5,400.00 (T.87-III). His total expenses were approximately \$5,000.00 (T.87-III).

The Molinas obtained a partial summary judgment on liability in the foreclosure action on February 14, 1991 (RR 5). The Mases simply had not paid the money (T.87-88-III).

Mr. Barcus told Mr. Mas that he could not represent him effectively. He did not do appellate work (T.93-III). There was a thirty day period within which to file a notice of appeal (T.91-III). The judge had ruled only that they were liable on the note and, indeed, they were liable on the note (T.91-III). An appeal was without merit (T.92-III). Mr. Mas claimed to have setoffs and he very well may have had them, but Mr. Barcus told him that he had to obtain another attorney for appeal or file bankruptcy (T.91-III). Mr. Mas repeatedly had said that he was going to file bankruptcy (T.91-III).

Mr. Mas wanted to buy time. He said he would see a bankruptcy attorney but he did not want to hire another attorney for the appeal because he was broke (T.91-III).

He communicated with Mr. Mas during the thirty day period for the filing of the notice of appeal (T.93-III). He wanted to make sure that both the Mases understood the ramifications and import of the partial summary judgment on liability (T.93-III). He urged them, based on their representations to him, to file bankruptcy (T.93-III). He told them that they should seek the advice of a bankruptcy attorney (T.93-94-III). They would have a new beginning, get back to work, raise their child, and put an end to the constant aggravation of the lawsuit (T.94-III).

9

Mr. Barcus called Mr. Mas on the thirtieth day and told him that it was the final day (T.94-III). If he did not file the notice of appeal the Molinas' attorney was going to set down a hearing for summary judgment as to damages and foreclosure (T.94-III).

Mr. Mas told Mr. Barcus that he wanted to file bankruptcy. He had not yet contacted an appellate attorney. Mr. Mas asked Mr. Barcus to file a notice of appeal (T.94-III).

Mr. Barcus agreed to file the notice of appeal in order to obtain time for Mr. Mas to employ an appellate attorney or a bankruptcy attorney (T.95-III). On cross-examination, Mr. Barcus reiterated that he filed the notice of appeal at the Mases' request (T.151-IV). He filed a motion for extension of time at the Mases' request (T.151-IV). The intent was to leave the door open for another attorney to file the brief if the Mases did not file for bankruptcy (T.151-152-IV).

Bar's Exhibit 15 is a copy of the letter that he sent to Mr. and Mrs. Mas in May of 1991, after the notice of appeal had been filed, and after they had decided not to proceed with the appeal (T.101-III). They were going to file bankruptcy (T.101-III). It is dated May 16, 1991, which was the day he mailed it to the Mases (T.102-III). The letter was addressed to Peter and Paula Mas and concerned the appeal of the partial summary judgment. It stated:

"This letter is to confirm that you will not be proceeding with the appeal of the partial summary judgment as you intend to file bankruptcy. You have decided against funding the additional necessary money to proceed to litigate the appeal. The preparation of the appeal record from the lower court would be necessary, which is an additional costs. The pendency of the appeal has given you a brief stay from the lower proceeding but you must seek bankruptcy protection quickly. Good luck."

Mr. Barcus had further communication with the Mases after they received this letter (T.178-IV). They desired that he continue to do the best that he could for them (T.178-IV).

He repeated, in nauseating detail, that the purpose of the filing of the notice of appeal was to buy them time (T.178-IV).

Mr. Barcus obtained an extension of time to file the brief (T.96-III). He told Mr. Mas (T.96-III). He told Mr. Mas that he was going to hamstring his eventual attorney if he wanted to prosecute the appeal because of the time limits (T.96-97-III). Mr. Barcus again explained the time deadlines for prosecuting an appeal to Mr. Mas (T.97-III). He told him that every day he waited he prejudiced his case (T.97-III). Mr. Mas said that he was going to file bankruptcy, he did not want to prosecute the appeal (T.97-III). Mr. Mas did not want to pay an attorney for an appeal (T.97-III).

Mr. Barcus received an order from the Third District directing him to file the brief within ten days or it would be dismissed (T.98-III). He informed Mr. Mas of the order (T.98-III). He did so as soon as he received it (T.98-III). Mr. Mas said that he was going to file bankruptcy (T.98-III). He assured Mr. Barcus that he would file bankruptcy (T.98-III). III).

Mr. Barcus received an order dismissing the appeal (T.98-III). He informed Mr. Mas that the appeal had been dismissed (T.98-III). He sent Mr. Mas a letter reminding him that he had said that he was going to file bankruptcy but he had not done so (T.99-III). Mr. Mas asked what the dismissal of the appeal did to the case (T.99). Mr. Barcus told him that there was a minimum period of about nineteen days before the Molinas could obtain a hearing on their foreclosure action (T.99-III).

He told Mr. Mas to retain another attorney (T.100-III). Mr. Mas asked him to continue representing him in the foreclosure (T.100-III). He said that he was going to file

bankruptcy and that the bankruptcy would intervene and that he could not afford to pay an attorney to represent him on the foreclosure (T.100-III). He was having a difficult time scraping together the money to employ a bankruptcy attorney (T.100-III). He assured Mr. Barcus that he was going to retain a bankruptcy attorney and place his financial house in order (T.100-III).

Mr. Barcus agreed to represent him at the hearing on the foreclosure because he felt sorry for the Mases (T.100-III). They had a child with cerebral palsy (T.101-III). Mrs. Mas was very frazzled as the result of the responsibilities of taking care of the disabled child and dealing with an irrational husband (T.101-III).

The Molinas obtained a final judgment of foreclosure on the Mases' house (T.102-III). Mr. Barcus did not receive notice of the hearing at which the final judgment was entered (T.102-III). Neither did the Mases (T.102-III). No hearing was held and no notice was sent to Mr. Barcus (RR.7).

Mr. Barcus received the order in the mail (T.102-III). He was furious (T.103-III). He called Mr. Mas and told him what had happened (T.103-III). Mr. Mas was furious (T.103-III).

Mr. Mas asked Mr. Barcus to mail him a copy of the order (T.104-III). Mr. Barcus refused. They had to meet in person (T.104-III).

Mr. Barcus met with Mr. Mas (T.104-III). Mr. Barcus told him that he had to move immediately to set the order aside and that he could not ignore this advice. It was imperative (T.104-105-III). He also spoke to Mrs. Mas and told her that they had to retain a bankruptcy attorney or go to another attorney and have the foreclosure order set aside (T.105-III). He told them that they must take care of this immediately (T.105-III). Mr. Mas said that he would take care of it (T.105-III). Mr. Barcus explained to them that he would not represent them any further (T.107-III). He explained to them that he would not seek to have the order set aside (T.107-III). They agreed. They would see a bankruptcy attorney (T.107-III). They were going to contact a bankruptcy attorney immediately to file bankruptcy (T.105-106-III).

Mr. Barcus called the Mases to make sure they had scheduled an appointment with a bankruptcy attorney (T.106-III).

The Mases came to his house on September 12, 1991, in the evening (T.107-III). They arrived at approximately 7:00 P.M. (T.107-III). They did not have an appointment. They appeared unannounced (T.107-III). They brought their child (T.108-III). They were driving a very expensive dressed Chevrolet van with pen stripes and a lavish paint job and captain's chair (T.108-III). On the eve of filing bankruptcy, one does not make a purchase such as this (T.108-III).

The Mases said that they had been to see a bankruptcy attorney who had informed them that money would be required in advance, their credit cards would be controlled, their debts would be controlled, and a trustee would have control of their money and make their payments (T.109-III). When they spoke of the court control of their assets, Mr. Barcus realized that they had lied to him repeatedly about their financial condition (T.110-III).

Mr. Mas told Mr. Barcus that they were not eligible for bankruptcy because their assets exceeded their debts (T.110-III). Mr. Barcus knew that they had lied to him for years (T.110-III).

Late in the evening, after hours of discussion about what to do about bankruptcy and

after Mr. Barcus realized that the Mases had misrepresented their financial condition to him for years, Mrs. Mas said "we can pay you." (T.110-111-III). That hit Mr. Barcus like "a laser beam between the eyes" (T.110-111-III). If they could in fact employ counsel, they must do so immediately (T.111-III). They stayed until almost midnight, about five hours (T.111-III).

At the end of the meeting the Mases accepted that Mr. Barcus no longer would be representing them (T.117;179-180-III). He advised them to seek new counsel immediately (T.117-III). They said that they would do so (T.117;180-III).

Mr. Mas testified that when he and his wife left Mr. Barcus' home on September 12, 1991, there was no doubt that Mr. Barcus would no longer represent them (T.69;98-II). Mr. Barcus reiterated on re-direct that when the Mases left his house on September 12, 1991 they understood that he would take no further legal action for them (T.179-180-III). They were to obtain other counsel (T.180-III).

Mr. Mas admitted that Mr. Barcus' constant refrain was to obtain a bankruptcy attorney (T.65-II).

Gary Gostel, the Mases' new attorney, testified that he first spoke to the Mases the next day, September 13, 1991.

Mr. Barcus did not file a motion to withdraw. He assumed that there would be an orderly substitution of counsel. He sent one to Mr. Gostel but he did not sign it (T.172-IV).

Linda Wright testified. She is thirty-nine. She is a collection manager for Arrow Air (T.4-III). She has worked there for two years. Before that she was employed by Denrich Leasing for seven years in collections, as a collection supervisor, and as a customer service

supervisor. She has an Associate of Arts in Elementary Education and is working on her Bachelors Degree (T.5-III). After she receives her Bachelors Degree she intends to teach school in Dade County (T.6-III).

She met Mr. Barcus in 1988. They became romantically involved and they lived together for five years (T.6-III).

Mr. Barcus' office was in his home. She was there occasionally during the day when he was in his office (T.8-III).

She became aware of Mr. Mas in the first part of 1990. Mr. Barcus was representing him. She learned of his legal difficulties and about his daughter, who had medical difficulties (T.7-III). Mr. Mas a very difficult client and a very difficult individual (T.8-III).

Mr. Mas was always at Mr Barcus' home (T.9-III). It was nothing for her to come home and see Mr. Mas sitting in the easy chair, watching T.V., while Mr. Barcus cooked dinner for him (T.9-III). Mr. Mas became part of the furniture (T.10-III).

Mr. Mas called Mr. Barcus all the time. He called from sun up to sun down. He would call as late as midnight. Mr. Mas would call whenever he felt like it. He would talk for hours. It did not matter whether it was during business hours or in the middle of the night. Mr. Mas would either call or drop by. He dropped by at least a couple of times a week (T.10-III).

Mr. Mas and Mr. Barcus would discuss things. They would discuss the case. They would discuss life, Mr. Mas's life, his problems. They would discuss anything in front of her and with her. Mr. Mas would discuss things openly with her (T.10-11-III).

Mr. Mas would rehash a lot of things. He would go over them, especially when it

concerned Mr. Molina, because he hated Mr. Molina. He constantly talked about Mr. Molina and that he hated him or how angry he was with him. He said that he hated Mr. Molina all the time (T.11-III). Mr. Mas admitted that he hated the Molinas (T.150-151-III).

Mr. Barcus spent a lot of time with Mr. Mas, either on the phone, in person, or at the courthouse (T.11-12-III).

Mr. Barcus constantly expressed to her his concern for the Mases. Mr. Barcus is a very caring person and he felt sorry for the Mases. He felt sorry for Mr. Mas that so many bad things had happened to him. 'Mr. Barcus is the type that feels sorry for the poor soul. When the Mases brought in the baby, it just pulled at his heart strings because he felt very sorry for these people who had lost so much. They were having financial difficulties, neither of them was working, and they had a baby who was seriously ill (T.12-13-III).

The Mases constantly made protestations of poverty (T.13-III). They said that they could not work because they had to stay home to take care of the baby. They lost their business. They had no income. They lost everything. They were always crying poor, always (T.13-III).

Mr. Mas did not work during the time that she knew him. He did not have any physical ailment (T.13-III).

Mr. Mas sold Nu Skin. It is like Amway. She and Mr. Barcus bought a lot of Nu Skin from Mr. Mas because Mr. Barcus felt sorry for them. He would buy these things to help him because he had no other source of income (T.13-14-III).

Mrs. Mas is a registered nurse. She did not work during the time that Ms. Wright knew her. She gave up her job to stay home and take care of the baby (T.14-15-III).

16

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