IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

V 1505 9/Hp

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

GARY ALLYN BARCUS,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 83,988

The Florida Bar File No. 93-70,232(11G)

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

ARLENE K. SANKEL
Bar Counsel
Florida Bar No. 272981
The Florida Bar
444 Brickell Avenue
Suite M-100
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-4445

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 217395 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (904) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director Florida Bar No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (904) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A Referee's findings of fact are presumed correct and will not be overturned unless there is insufficient evidence in the record to support those conclusions. If there is competent evidentiary support in the record for the Referee's findings, this Honorable Court will not substitute its own judgment for that of the referee. The party seeking to prove that the referee's findings are erroneous has the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions.

The Referee properly found the Respondent guilty of ethical violations with regard to Count I of the complaint. The evidence before the Referee was uncontroverted that Peter Mas did not appear at two scheduled depositions because the Respondent failed to properly notify him of the time and the place of the depositions. Moreover, the Respondent improperly deposed Mas himself in contravention of the Rules of Civil Procedure. As the Referee himself noted, there was no substantive dispute regarding the factual allegations in the complaint.

With regard to Count II, the Referee properly found that Respondent violated Rule 4-8.4(d) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice) by filing a

Notice of Appeal with the Third District Court of Appeal solely for the purpose of delay and despite the fact that he was aware there was no factual basis for same. The Respondent also wrongfully filed a Notice of Diligent Prosecution with the Third District Court of Appeal as a "strategic ploy" even though he had no intention of pursuing the appeal.

Finally, the Referee properly found that the Respondent violated Rule 4-1.3 (diligence) with regard to Count V in that he failed to take any steps to vacate an improperly entered order of foreclosure against his client. The Respondent failed to take any action to protect the Mases from that foreclosure sale after the Molinas obtained the order ex parte. The Respondent's lack of diligence in handling this matter could have resulted in the loss of the Mas' home.

There is competent substantial evidence in the record to support the Referee's findings and conclusions and they should be upheld.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND RESPONDENT GUILTY AS TO COUNTS I, II AND V OF THE FLORIDA BAR'S COMPLAINT.

The basic principle regarding evidentiary rulings adhered to by this Court is set forth in <u>The Florida Bar v. Marable</u>, 645 So.2d 438 (Fla. 1994) in which this Court stated:

In a disciplinary proceeding before a referee, the Bar has the burden of proving allegations of misconduct by clear and convincing evidence. However, on review of a referee's findings of fact, this presumes the findings to be correct. referee's findings of fact should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking evidentiary support. Because the referee is the better position to evaluate the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, the referee's findings of fact should be upheld if they are supported by competent, substantial On review, this Court neither evidence. reweighs the evidence in the record substitutes its judgment for that of the referee so long as there is competent, substantial evidence in the record to support the referee's findings. This is the standard of sufficiency of evidence that we will apply on review.

Clearly, a referee's findings of fact and recommendations carry a presumption of correctness. The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1986). The party seeking review of such findings and/or recommendations carries the burden of showing that they are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The

Florida Bar v. McClure, 575 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1991). Where a party contends that a referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt (or innocence) are erroneous, that party must demonstrate that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions made. The Florida Bar v. Rue, 643 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994). In the absence of such a showing, the referee's findings will be upheld. The Florida Bar v. Hayden, 583 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1991); The Florida Bar v. McKenzie, 442 So.2d 934 (Fla. 1984).

A. THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND RESPONDENT GUILTY AS TO COUNT I OF THE COMPLAINT.

Count I of the Bar's complaint concerns the Respondent's failure to notify his client of duly noticed depositions scheduled in the Dana Commercial Credit lawsuit. The findings of fact with regard to this count of the complaint are essentially uncontroverted. (TR. 185, III).

During the Dana litigation, Peter Mas was deposed by Dana Commercial Credit Corporation's attorney, Richard Stone. The deposition was not concluded on the first day and a continuation was necessary. Stone scheduled the second deposition for July 18, 1990. Respondent was duly noticed of the deposition date. (RR 3). On July 18, 1990, neither the Respondent nor Peter Mas appeared for

the deposition. (RR 4). After Respondent and Mas failed to appear, the deposition was re-noticed for August 1, 1990. (RR 4). Again, neither Respondent nor Mas appeared. (TR. 39-40, I). Dana, through its attorney, Stone, then filed a motion for sanctions.

Subsequent to twice failing to produce his client for deposition, Respondent scheduled his own deposition of his client, Peter Mas. (TR. 40, 42, I; RR 5). Without any authority in the Rules of Civil Procedure to sustain such action, Respondent, Mas, and a court reporter appeared on Saturday, August 3, 1990, for the taking of Mas' deposition. (TR. 180, IV). Although the Respondent stated that he provided telephone notice to opposing counsel, written notice was not mailed to opposing counsel until five days after the deposition occurred. (TR. 149, IV). The Referee concluded that Respondent completely failed to live up to his ethical obligations or to follow the Rules of Civil Procedure with regard to the taking of his own client's deposition. (TR. 5, V). The Referee additionally noted that he was at a loss to understand what the Respondent hoped to accomplish by the tactic of taking his own client's deposition. (TR. 5, V).

The Referee properly concluded that Respondent's handling of his client's deposition violated Rule 4-1.3 (Diligence) and Rule 4-1.4(b) (Communication) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. As

the Referee stated, the Respondent's failure to properly communicate with his client, Mas, was the foundation for the problems in Respondent's handling of Mas' case. (TR. 5, V). The record clearly shows that Respondent failed to advise Mas when he received the notices regarding the depositions. (TR. 39, I). The Respondent also shirked his responsibility to keep the Mases informed about the status of the case. Further, the Respondent failed to provide sufficient information for the Mases to make informed decisions regarding the representation. The Respondent's handling of the depositions constituted a "flagrant" violation of the disciplinary rules. (TR. 4, V). In light of the testimony and evidence, the Referee's findings of guilt with regard to Count I of the complaint should be upheld.

B. THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND RESPONDENT GUILTY AS TO COUNT II OF THE COMPLAINT.

Respondent was properly found guilty of rule violations with regard to Count II of the complaint. The findings in Count II pertain to Respondent's filing of an appeal with regard to a ruling adverse to the Mases.

The Molinas filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment in their foreclosure action against the Mases. On February 14, 1991, Judge Henry Ferro entered an order granting the Molinas' motion.

(RR 5). Thirty days after the order was entered, Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal from that order with the Third District Court of Appeal. (RR 6). After hearing the testimony and viewing the evidence, the Referee concluded that the Respondent proceeded with the filing of an appeal despite his awareness that same was legally and factually baseless. (TR. 151, 153-IV; TR. 91, 93-III). The Respondent never filed a brief nor made any attempt to diligently prosecute the appeal despite his filing of a Notice of Diligent Prosecution. (RR 6). On August 16, 1991, the Third District Court of Appeal, sua sponte, dismissed the appeal. (RR 6).

According to the Respondent's own testimony, the sole purpose for the filing of the Notice of Appeal was to delay execution of Judge Ferro's Order of February 14, 1991. The Respondent did not have any intention of pursuing an appeal despite the filing of the Notice of Appeal and the filing of the Notice of Diligent Prosecution. (TR. 151, 153, IV). As the Referee noted and the Respondent agreed, it is improper for an attorney to file an appeal when he is aware that no valid grounds for such exist. (TR. 193, IV).

Conduct prejudicial to justice is defined as conduct which undermines the legitimacy of the legal process. The Florida Bar v. Pettie, 424 So.2d 734, 737 (Fla. 1983). A meritless appeal whose

sole purpose is to delay execution of a legitimate order clearly undermines the purpose of the legal process. Respondent himself stated that the filing of the appeal was purely a manipulation of the legal process in order to provide the Mases with time to petition for bankruptcy. (TR. 91, III). The Referee properly concluded that Respondent's conduct violated Rule 4-8.4(d) (conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

C. THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND RESPONDENT GUILTY AS TO COUNT V OF THE COMPLAINT.

Count V of the Bar's complaint concerns Respondent's failure to take steps to vacate or set aside an improperly entered Final Order of Foreclosure against his clients, the Mases, which was entered by Judge Ferro on September 3, 1991. The testimony indicated that the motion was not scheduled for hearing. (TR. 103, III). Shortly after learning of its entry, Respondent notified the Mases of the order. He did not take any steps to have the order vacated or set aside despite the uncertainty surrounding its entry. (RR 7).

Shortly afterwards, the Mases retained substitute counsel, Gary Gostel. (TR. 12, I). In order to prevent the foreclosure sale, Gostel filed a Notion of Appeal from foreclosure order, along

with a motion to stay the sale pending the outcome of the appeal.

(TR. 25, I). Subsequently, Judge Ferro vacated the foreclosure order stating that it had been entered in error. (RR 7).

The Referee properly concluded that Respondent was not diligent in protecting the interests of his client. The Respondent had an obligation to take steps to protect the Mases' interests and failed to do so. The Respondent's failure to take timely action could have resulted in the Mas' losing their home. The Referee properly determined that Respondent's actions violated Rule 4-1.3 (Diligence) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

CONCLUSION

Unless shown to be clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support, a referee's findings of fact and recommendations are presumed to be correct and should be upheld. The record is replete with competent substantial evidence in support of the Referee's findings of fact as they pertain to Counts I, II, and V and same should be upheld.